THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-CP-10-02758
Appellate Case No. 2019-001716

Jeane Whitfield,

Appellant,

v.

Dennis K. Schimpf, M.D. and
Sweetgrass Plastic Surgery,
LLC,

and

Patrick O'Neil, M.D. and
O'Neil Plastic Surgery, LLC,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Daniel S. Slotchiver
Andrew J. McCumber
Slotchiver & Slotchiver, LLP
751 Johnnie Dodds Boulevard, Suite 100
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29464
(843) 577-6531

Jesse Sanchez
The Law Office of Jesse Sanchez, LLC
98 ½ Broad Street, Suite B
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
(843) 814-8181

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING DEFENDANT’S PREVIOUSLY-IDENTIFIED EXPERT WITNESSES TO OFFER TESTIMONY REGARDING THEIR PHYSICAL AND MENTAL EXAMINATIONS OF THE PLAINTIFF.
2. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT PERMITTING PLAINTIFF TO IMPEACH THE CREDIBILITY OF DEFENDANT’S OFFICE MANAGER AND ELICIT EVIDENCE OF BIAS BY EXAMINING HER ABOUT HER COMPENSATION AND SEXUAL RELATIONSHIP WITH DEFENDANT AND DEFENDANT’S WIFE.
3. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT PLAINTIFF’S DIRECTED VERDICT MOTION AS TO NEGLIGENCE PER SE FOR ADMITTEDLY DESTROYED AND/OR MISSING MEDICAL RECORDS.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 30, 2017, Jeane Whitfield brought this medical malpractice action against Dennis K. Schimpf, M.D. and Sweetgrass Plastic Surgery, LLC. The Amended Complaint alleged, *inter alia*, that the Defendants were negligent in rendering medical care to Mrs. Whitfield and in failing to keep and/or destroying medical records, including photographs, results of physical examinations, surgical notes, documentation of visits, documentation of care provided, assessments, plans, and diagnostic materials in violation of S.C. Code of Regulations R. 61-16 and S.C. Code § 40-47-110. The Amended Complaint further alleged that as a direct and proximate result of the acts and omissions of Defendants, Mrs. Whitfield sustained physical injuries, and was caused to endure additional surgical procedures, medical expenses, physical pain and suffering, scarring, disfigurement, shame, humiliation, mental anguish, emotional distress, and that she will continue to suffer these damages.

On October 4, 2017, Defendants filed *Defendants' Amended Answer to Plaintiff's Amended Complaint*, generally denying the allegations made against them and raising various affirmative defenses.

A five-day jury trial was held in Charleston, South Carolina from August 26, 2019 to August 30, 2019, whereafter the jury found for the Defendant. Judgment was entered on September 11, 2019 and written notice of entry of this Judgment was mailed to Mrs. Whitfield's counsel on or about September 16, 2019. On October 8, 2019, Mrs. Whitfield served the *Notice of Appeal* on Defendants.

On October 28, 2019, the trial court held a post-trial hearing on *Defendants' Motion for Costs* and Non-Party Patrick O'Neil and O'Neil Plastic Surgery LLC's *Motion to Compel Compensation to Non-Party Witness Patrick O'Neill, M.D.*

On November 7, 2019, the trial court entered its *Order Granting Non-Party O’Neill Plastic Surgery’s Motion to Compel Compensation*. On November 18, 2019, Mrs. Whitfield served the *Notice of Appeal* for this post-trial order on Non-Party Respondents Patrick O’Neil, M.D. and O’Neill Plastic Surgery, LLC.

On December 11, 2019, the trial court entered its *Order Granting Defendant’s Motion for Costs*. Mrs. Whitfield served the *Notice of Appeal* for this post-trial order on Defendants Dr. Schimpf and Sweetgrass Plastic Surgery, LLC on December, 19, 2019.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court has the power to affirm, reverse, or modify the judgment of the trial court. *See generally Detheridge v. Earle*. 3 S.C. 396, 399 (1872). In an appeal of a trial by jury of an action at law, the jurisdiction of the appellate court generally extends to correcting errors of law. *Townes Assocs. Ltd v. Greenville*. 266 S.C. 81, 85, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976). The appellate court, however, may also modify or reverse the factual finding of a trial court where no evidence reasonably supports the finding. *Id.* at 85-86, 221 S.E.2d at 775.

Although the admission or exclusion of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court, “the exercise of a trial court’s discretion implies conscientious judgment, not arbitrary action, and takes account of the law and particular circumstances of the case, being directed by the reason and conscience of the judge to a just result.” *Horn v. Davis Elec. Constructors*. 312 S.C. 363, 366, 440 S.E.2d 398, 400 (Ct. App. 1994) (citing *Nienow v. Nienow*. 268 S.C. 161, 232 S.E.2d 504 (1977); *State v. Hill*. 266 S.C. 49, 221 S.E.2d 398 (1976)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” *Clark v. Cantrell*. 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d

528, 539 (2000) (citing *Fontaine v. Peitz*, 291 S.C. 536, 354S.E.2d565 (1987)).

Physical and Mental Examinations of Parties

Rule 35 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure governs requests for physical and mental examinations and provides in relevant part as follows:

In any case in which the amount in controversy exceeds \$100,000 actual damages, and the mental or physical condition (including the blood group) of a party, or of a person in the custody or under the legal control of a party, is in controversy, the court in which the action is pending may order the party to submit to a physical or mental examination by a physician or to produce for examination the person in his custody or legal control. The order may be made only on motion for good cause shown....

The physician of the party to be examined may be present at the examination. Unless the parties agree, or the court for good cause shown determines otherwise, the examination shall be in the county where the person to be examined, or his physician, resides.... Upon *reasonable objection* to the physician designated to make the examination, and if the parties shall fail to agree as to who shall make the examination, the court may designate a physician; but the fact that a physician was so designated shall not be admissible upon the trial.

Fairchild v. S.C. Dep't of Transp., 727 S.E.2d 407, 416-417, 398 S.C. 90, 108 (2012), citing Rule 35(a), SCRPC.

“The purpose of the rule for an IME is to materially aid the jury, not just the defendant, in evaluating the actual damages sustained and arriving at a just verdict. [...] Thus, the better rule is that the physician should not be affiliated with either party in order to serve the purposes of Rule 35.” [Emphasis added]. *Fairchild v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 727 S.E.2d at 417, 398 S.C. at 109-110.

Eliciting Evidence of Bias to Impeach Witness

Our courts have followed the “general rule: that ““anything having a legitimate tendency

to throw light on the accuracy, truthfulness, and sincerity of a witness may be shown and considered in determining the credit to be accorded his testimony,' "so that "“on cross-examination, any fact may be elicited which tends to show interest, bias, or partiality’ of the witness.” *Smalls v. State*, 810 S.E.2d 836, 840, 422 S.C. 174, 182-183 (2018). “Rule 608(c) [of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence] ‘preserves [this longstanding] South Carolina precedent.’” *Id.*, citing *State v. Sims* , 348 S.C. 16, 25, 558 S.E.2d 518, 523 (2002). Specifically, Rule 608(c), SCRE, states: “Bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced.”

Considerable latitude is generally allowed in the cross-examination of an adverse witness for possible bias. *North Greenville College v. Sherman Const. Co., Inc.*, 243 S.E.2d 441, 442, 270 S.C. 553, 556 (1978), citing *Martin v. Dunlap*, 266 S.C. 230, 222 S.E.2d 8 (1976). As noted by McCormick: “The law recognizes the slanting effect upon human testimony of the emotions or feelings of the witness toward the parties or the self-interest of the witness in the outcome of the case. Partiality, or any acts, relationships or motives reasonably likely to produce it, may be proved to impeach credibility.” *Id.*, citing McCormick on Evidence, § 40, p. 78 (1972).

Directed Verdicts

When evidence presented at trial yields only one conclusion concerning liability, the trial court may properly grant a motion for directed verdict. *Fairchild v. Dept. of Transp.*, 683 S.E.2d 818, 385, 823 S.C. 344, 353 (Ct. App. 2009), *aff’d*, 398 S.C. 90, 727 S.E.2d 407 (2012). “A motion for directed verdict goes to the entire case and may be granted only when the evidence raises no issue for the jury as to liability.” *Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries v. Outparcel Assocs.*, 374 S.C. 483, 490, 649 S.E.2d 494, 497 (Ct. App. 2007)

Negligence Per Se and Punitive Damages

“The causative violation of a statute constitutes negligence per se and is evidence of recklessness and willfulness, requiring the submission of the issue of punitive damages to the jury.” *Wise v. Broadway*, 433 S.E.2d 857, 315 S.C. 273 (1992)

FACTS

This is a medical malpractice action arising out of treatment of Jeanne Whitfield (“Mrs. Whitfield”) by Dennis K. Schimpf, M.D. (“Dr. Schimpf”) and Sweetgrass Plastic Surgery, LLC (“SPS”). (Am. Compl., R. p. 67). In 2013, Mrs. Whitfield began experiencing discomfort and pain under the right side of her breast and around her ribs. (Trial Tr., R. p. 658, lines 20-24). Thereafter, she was evaluated by her gastroenterologist, Dr. Arron Domm, who recommended that she consider removal of scar tissue by a plastic surgeon. (Trial Tr., R. p. 659, line 21 – p. 660, line 3). Mrs. Whitfield had previously undergone a breast augmentation procedure in 2009 with a physician named Dr. Kline and had been satisfied with that procedure. (Trial Tr., R. p. 658, lines 8 – 16).

While leaving Dr. Domm’s office, Mrs. Whitfield encountered an old acquaintance of hers named Vickie Tolbert (hereinafter, “Ms. Tolbert” or “Office Manager”). (Trial Tr., R. p. 660, lines 9-13). Ms. Tolbert happened to work in the building as an office manager for Dr. Schimpf at SPS. (Trial Tr., R. p. 660, lines 14-22, p. 679, lines 17-23, R). Upon Ms. Tolbert’s recommendation, Ms. Whitfield set up a consultation with Dr. Schimpf, who diagnosed her breast with heavy encapsulation and heavy scar tissue. (Trial Tr., R. p. 660, lines 14-22, p. 661, line 15- p. 86, line 2). Dr. Schimpf recommended a procedure known as a mastopexy, wherein he would remove the larger implants, clean out the encapsulation and scar tissue, and insert smaller breast implants to remove some weight and reduce pain. (Trial Tr., R. p. 661, lines 15-

21, p. 663, line 24 – p. 664, line 5).

On Friday, June 6, 2014, Mrs. Whitfield underwent surgery with Dr. Schimpf at SPS. (Trial Tr., R. p. 673, lines 21-23). She was advised to return to the office for a follow-up visit on June 10, 2014 to have eye sutures removed and her incisions checked. (Trial Tr., R. p. 676, lines 6-19). As set forth in greater detail below, Mrs. Whitfield began experiencing a plethora of ever-increasing complications following her surgery. Yet despite her concerns and deteriorating physical conditions, she was repeatedly told that her symptoms were part of “the natural progression of healing”. (Trial Tr., R. p. 679, lines 17-19, p. 680, lines 1-4, p. 694, lines 1-3, p. 696, lines 7-9, p. 765, lines 11-16, p. 807, lines 1-8, p. 812, lines 10-14). Mrs. Whitfield’s surgical wounds did not heal. (Trial Tr., R. p. 679, lines 7-23; p. 680, lines 5-7; p. 693, line 20 – p. 694, line 8; p. 695, line 18-23; p. 695, line 18 to p. 697, line 24; Pl’s Photo Exhs. 1, 6-11, 14s, 15, 16, 18s, 19s, 20s, 21s, R. pp. 1681, 1702-1706, 1707, 1708, 1710, 1711, 1712, 1713). Ultimately, her right implant blew through the inadequate stitches placed upon her breast by Dr. Schimpf. (Trial Tr., R. p. 701, line 24 to p. 704, line 2). She was later forced to undergo further surgery to remove her left breast and reconstruct her chest with fat-grafting surgery. (Trial Tr., R. p. 749, line 20 to p. 751, line 23; p. 754, lines 1-21). She continues to need medical care as a result. (Trial Tr., R. p. 1045, line 14 – p. 1047, line 25; p. 1123, lines 1-18).

ARGUMENTS

- I. BECAUSE A PARTY MAY NOT USE HIS OR HER OWN PREVIOUSLY-IDENTIFIED EXPERT TO PERFORM AN INDEPENDENT MEDICAL EXAMINATION OF AN OPPOSING PARTY, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING TESTIMONY FROM DEFENDANT’S PSYCHIATRIC AND PLASTIC SURGERY EXPERTS REGARDING THEIR EXAMINATIONS OF THE PLAINTIFF.

On December 14, 2018, Defendants filed a Rule 35 Motion for Physical and Mental Examination of Plaintiff, seeking that Mrs. Whitfield “make herself available for a medical

examination by Defendant's [sic] plastic surgery expert and for a mental examination by Defendant's [sic] psychiatry expert." (Motion, R. p. 100) Prior to filing their motion, Defendants' plastic surgery expert and psychiatry expert had already been retained and identified by Defendants as expert witnesses, reviewed Mrs. Whitfield's medical records, been deposed by her counsel, written extensive notes on their findings, reached conclusions, and rendered opinions as to Mrs. Whitfield's physical and mental state. (Trial Tr., R. p. 1383, line 10 -13; p. 1394, lines 1-7; p. 1507, lines 6-9; p. 1508, line 13 – p. 1509 line 9; p. 1544, lines 3-5; p. 1553, lines 8-17). In addition, Defendants had already paid their experts thousands of dollars for their time and evaluations. (Trial Tr., R. p. 1507, lines 6-18).

In response to Defendants' Motion, Mrs. Whitfield filed a Memorandum in Opposition arguing that Defendants cannot force Plaintiff to undergo an intimate physical examination of her breasts and/or mental examinations by Defendants' already-retained experts. (Memo in Opp., R. p. 110). In support of her position, Plaintiff cited the well-settled case of *Fairchild v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 727 S.E.2d 407, 398 S.C. 90 (2012), wherein the South Carolina Supreme Court found that an adversary's listed expert may **not** perform an independent medical examination on the opposing party under Rule 35, SCRPC. "The purpose of the rule for an IME is to **materially aid the jury**, not just the defendant, in evaluating the actual damages sustained and arriving at a just verdict. [...] Thus, the better rule is that **the physician should not be affiliated with either party in order to serve the purposes of Rule 35.**" [Emphasis added]. *Fairchild v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 727 S.E.2d at 417, 398 S.C. at 109-110.

In rendering its decision in *Fairchild*, the South Carolina Supreme Court cited a series of guidelines holding that the medical evaluation under Rule 35 must be independent, and not performed by an opposing party's previously-designated expert. "**The physician must be**

selected by the court, not the defendant, and must be competent and disinterested. [...] [I]t is clear that the power so vested in the Court is a discretionary power, and not an absolute right in the applicant, and that **the physician or physicians so appointed act as officers of the court, and not as agents of either party.**” [Emphasis added] *Id.*, quoting *Richardson v. Johnson*, 60 Tenn.App. 129, 444 S.W.2d 708, 718 (1969). “**When the court makes such an appointment, [it] does so because [it] determines in [its] discretion that the case calls for the opinion of disinterested and unbiased physicians, not friends of either parties, whose testimony is likely to be biased.**” [Emphasis added] *Fairchild v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 727 S.E.2d at 418, 389 S.C. at 110, quoting *Atkinson v. United Rys. Co.*, 286 Mo. 634, 228 S.W. 483, 485 (1921).

The South Carolina Supreme Court also noted that “**a court could not compel [a] plaintiff to submit to [a physical] examination by witnesses for the other side,**” and “[t]he **physicians appointment in such cases are the officers of the Court.**” *Id.*, quoting *Atkinson*, 286 Mo. 632, 228 S.W., 485.

Despite the clear holding in *Fairchild*, the Circuit Court granted Defendants’ Rule 35 Motion and ordered that Mrs. Whitfield submit herself to a physical examination of her breasts by Defendants’ previously-retained plastic surgery expert, Jorge Perez, M.D., and a three-hour long psychiatric examination by Defendants’ previously-retained psychiatric expert, James Ballenger, M.D.¹ (Order, R. p. 11). In reaching its decision, the Circuit Court rendered its own divergent interpretation of Rule 35, SCRCP, expressly rebuking the South Carolina Supreme Court for holding that physical examinations of an opposing party must be conducted by an independent physician: “The *Fairchild* court too is guilty of the perpetuation of this language in

¹ It is notable that Dr. Ballenger is the **same** expert that both the South Carolina Court of Appeals and Supreme Court disallowed from performing a psychiatric medical evaluation of an opposing party in *Fairchild*.

the context of Rule 35.” (Order, R. p. 16). Thereafter, Plaintiff filed a Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend the Order, which the Circuit Court denied. (Motion, R. p. 115; Order, R. p. 19).

On June 21, 2019, prior to any physical examination of Mrs. Whitfield by Defendants’ experts, Plaintiff’s counsel wrote Defendants’ counsel, Todd Smyth, to put him on notice that Plaintiff would move to exclude any expert testimony offered by Defendants’ experts at trial:

Todd, understanding that you are insisting on moving forward with the IMEs and utilizing your designated experts for same, please know that we will move to exclude the testimony of both of your experts based on improper qualifications for the medical examinations. Although the court has authorized you to use them for the IMEs, it does not mean that their testimony will be admissible. We believe it will be the decision of [the Judge] as to whether or not to exclude them. I say this to you now because I want there to be no surprise when we raise it before trial. You have an opportunity now to retain experts who have not previously given opinions in this case. Although we will certainly comply with the courts order to allow the IMEs to go forward, I want it to be expressly clear that nothing in our communications should be viewed as acquiescence or a waiver of our right to object to the introduction of their findings and, based on their improper examination, their testimony in total. (Trial Tr., R. p. 618, line 14 - p. 627, line 4).

Despite being put on notice about the prospective evidentiary challenge, Defendants insisted on using their own, previously-retained experts to conduct the medical examinations. Accordingly, pursuant to the Circuit Court’s order, Mrs. Whitfield submitted herself to physical examination of her breasts by Defendants’ plastic surgery expert, Jorge Perez, M.D. and a psychiatric

examination by Defendants' psychiatric expert, James Ballenger, M.D.²

As anticipated, on July 17, 2019, Mrs. Whitfield filed a Motion in Limine Regarding Defense Examinations of Plaintiff, wherein she moved to prevent Defendants from introducing any evidence to the jury regarding medical examinations performed on her by Defendants' experts on the grounds that the examinations were a direct violation of the standard set forth by the South Carolina Supreme Court in *Fairchild*. (Motion, R. p. 169). Mrs. Whitfield argued, *inter alia*, that Defendants' previously-retained experts could not aid the jury by providing the type of impartiality and independence required of a medical examiner appointed under Rule 35, SCRPC; that Plaintiff had reasonably objected to physical examination by Defendants' experts on the grounds that they had been previously-retained by Defendants, reviewed records, and are not disinterested and/or unbiased physician; and that expert witness testimony should not be allowed because *Fairchild* expressly forbids a court from compelling a Plaintiff to submit to physical examination by a witnesses from the other side. (Memo in Opp., R. p. 110; Hr'g Tr., p.404, line 4 – p. 408, line 20). Plaintiff further noted that Defendants' psychiatric expert, James Ballenger, M.D., had been the very expert disallowed by both the South Carolina Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court in *Fairchild* from medically examining an opposing party under Rule 35, SCRPC. (Memo in Opp., R. p. 110; Hr'g Tr., R. p.404, line 4 – p. 408, line 20). See *Fairchild v. Dept. of Transp.*, 683 S.E.2d 818, 826, 385 S.C. 344 (Ct. App. 2009), affirming the

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