THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-001716
Lower Court Case No. 2017-CP-10-2758

RECEIVED
Oct 30 2020
SC Court of Appeals

Jeane Whitfield,

Appellant,

v.

Dennis K. Schimpf, M.D. and
Sweetgrass Plastic Surgery, LLC,

Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS DENNIS K. SCHIMPF, M.D.
AND SWEETGRASS PLASTIC SURGERY, LLC**

Todd W. Smyth (SC Bar No. 5380)
Kevin R. Horton (SC Bar No. 101250)
S. Tyler Graves (SC Bar No. 103173)
Smyth Whitley, LLC
126 Seven Farms Drive, Suite 260
Charleston, South Carolina 29492
Tel: (843) 606-5635
Fax: (843) 654-4095

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

B. Appellant Waived Her Argument Against the Admission of Testimony Regarding Defense Expert’s Examinations Because She “Opened the Door” and Also Failed to Make a Contemporaneous Objection to Their Testimony.

At trial, Appellant “opened the door” to discussion of the examinations, first placing it in issue before the jury on her direct examination of her own witnesses. During Appellant’s direct examination of her treating / expert psychiatrist, Dr. Marcino, Mrs. Whitfield’s counsel elicited testimony from her regarding her role during Dr. Ballenger’s examination, which took place in her office. (*R. p. 1124*, lines 4-6 “Q: Were you present for when the defense psychology expert, Dr. Ballenger, performed his examination of Mrs. Whitfield? A: Yes, I was.”). This was the first the jury heard of the examinations. She discussed Mrs. Whitfield’s alleged aversion to the evaluation, Dr. Ballenger’s approach to the session, and asserted that Dr. Ballenger made Mrs. Whitfield nervous. (*R. pp. 1124-7*). Finally, Dr. Marcino suggested that there was no trust between Mrs.

Whitfield and Dr. Ballenger so therefore Mrs. Whitfield was not entirely forthcoming in her responses. (R. pp. 1125-7).

In spite of having put the topic in issue and used it to attempt to garner sympathy from the jury, Appellant now contends that this Court should give her a new trial because the Trial Court permitted discussion of the evaluations. This is not reasonable nor is it the law in this state. In order to have an appellate court consider an issue, it must be preserved. “There are four basic requirements to preserving issues at trial for appellate review. The issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity.” *S.C. DOT v. First Carolina*, 372 S.C. at 301-02, 641 S.E.2d at 907. Not only did Appellant put the evaluations in issue, she did not object to Respondents calling or qualifying either expert witness. Similarly, Appellant failed to lodge a contemporaneous objection to each expert’s discussion of his examination of Appellant. On direct examination, Dr. Ballenger discussed his appointment with Mrs. Whitfield, replying to Dr. Marcino’s negative gloss on his session with her patient:

- Q. “And were you also given an opportunity to meet with Ms. Whitfield and perform your own evaluation?
- A. I did. And we did. And we met for about three hours in Dr. Marcino’s office, actually with Dr. Marcino sitting almost beside her in that office. And as I said, we met for about three hours.
- Q. And is that a fairly common thing for you to do, to interview patients in the forensic world?
- A. I like to do it every time that it’s possible. ...
- Q. And you mentioned that Dr. Marcino was present for this evaluation. There was some testimony yesterday that Dr. Marcino appeared to question whether Ms. Whitfield was able to give reliable answers during your evaluation. What was your impression of that?
- A. Well, Ms. Whitfield is certainly smart and capable and quite verbal and can do that. She didn’t want to do the interview, was afraid of me. And I think that’s fair to say. Certainly distrusted me because I was from the other side and that I would be not nice to her. ...

So it's become my pattern over the last probably maybe ten years, maybe, to ask people afterwards how was it, because of those reasons. I mean did I -- was I nice to you. Ms. Whitfield said, yes, you were very nice. And was I respectful? Yes, very respectful. And then she went on to say, yes, it was not -- essentially it wasn't traumatic, it wasn't anywhere near as bad as I thought it would be. And as I was walking out, she stopped me to thank me; again, saying you made it actually a pleasant experience.

(R. p. 1357, line 16-p. 1358, line 25). Dr. Ballenger then continued to explain his conclusions and diagnoses of Appellant's condition. Appellant failed to lodge a single objection to this colloquy and thereby failed to preserve the admission of his testimony for consideration on appeal. Similarly, Appellant did not object to the discussion of Dr. Perez's evaluation of Appellant, which was a standard plastic surgery evaluation held in the presence and at the offices of Mrs. Whitfield's plastic surgeon, Dr. Kalus. (*See* R. p. 1417, lines 10-24). Because Appellant did not make a contemporaneous objection, this issue is not preserved for review.

C. Assuming That the Trial Court Erred in the Admission of Testimony Regarding the Examinations of Appellant by Drs. Perez and Ballenger, Such Error was Harmless.

The admission of the Defense experts' testimony, both generally and as to their examinations of Appellant, was proper under the Rules of Evidence. Further, and although the issue is not directly before this Court because Appellant appealed only the admission of the defense experts' testimony and not the underlying March 28, 2019 Order requiring Appellant to attend the examinations, those examinations were appropriate under Rule 35, SCRPC. However, assuming *arguendo* that the Trial Court erred in the admission of testimony regarding the examinations, any error that resulted was harmless and would not support reversal. First, Appellant can point to no improper prejudice that the admission of this evidence had on her case, especially when all three of her retained experts examined and met with her themselves and then testified on the basis of their findings. The record is also clear that Appellant's counsel had a full and fair opportunity to

depose each expert regarding their examinations and to challenge the evaluations on cross examination and, further, did in fact challenge the examinations through their examinations of Appellant's treating physician experts, having them testify about the process as well as Appellant's alleged begging and pleading that the examinations not go forward. Moreover, these examinations did not comprise a significant part of either of the Defense experts' testimony. Simply put, the admission of evidence regarding the examinations did not change anything in the outcome of the trial.

i. Legal Standard Governing Harmless Error and Additional Sustaining Grounds.

In South Carolina, harmless error is not a proper grounds for reversal of a trial court:

Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case. *In re Harvey*, 355 S.C. 53, 63, 584 S.E.2d 893, 897 (2003). "No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case." *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985). Error is harmless where it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *Harvey*, 355 S.C. at 63, 584 S.E.2d at 897. Generally, appellate courts will not set aside judgments due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. *State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991).

Judy v. Judy, 384 S.C. 634, 646, 682 S.E.2d 836, 842 (Ct. App. 2009). Where a claimed error would not have changed a jury's verdict, it is not a proper basis for reversal on appeal. Similarly, "[u]nder the present rules, a respondent - the "winner" in the lower court - may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court's ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court." *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000).

i. The Purported Error of Admitting Defense Expert's Testimony Did Not Affect the Verdict Because there are Multiple Alternate Sustaining Grounds for the Verdict.

Contrary to Appellant's arguments, the overwhelming evidence presented at trial does not support Appellant's contention that Respondents breached a duty of care to Mrs. Whitfield or that Respondents proximately caused her claimed damages. This is true with or without the very small portion of challenged testimony from Respondents' experts. As such, this Court should therefore affirm the jury's verdict under the doctrines of harmless error and alternate sustaining grounds.

The elements of a claim for medical malpractice are well-settled under South Carolina law:

To establish a cause of action for medical malpractice, the plaintiff must prove the following facts by a preponderance of the evidence: (1) The presence of a doctor-patient relationship between the parties; (2) Recognized and generally accepted standards, practices, and procedures which are exercised by competent physicians in the same branch of medicine under similar circumstances; (3) The medical or health professional's negligence, deviating from generally accepted standards, practices, and procedures; (4) Such negligence being a proximate cause of the plaintiff's injury; and (5) An injury to the plaintiff.

See Brouwer v. Sisters of Charity Providence Hosps, 409 S.C. 514, 521, 763 S.E.2d 200, 203 (2014). Because "South Carolina does not recognize the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*," Appellant must affirmatively prove each of the above elements via expert testimony. *See Fletcher v. Med. Univ. of S.C.*, 390 S.C. 458, 463, 702 S.E.2d 372, 374 (Ct. App. 2010). The same is not necessarily true for a medical malpractice defendant, who will prevail if he or she convinces the jury in his or her favor on any single one of the above elements. Furthermore, a defendant in a professional negligence action is generally competent to provide testimony as to the standard of care alone, without an expert.

Contrary to Appellant's innuendo, there is no evidence that Dr. Schimpf breached the standard of care in the performance of the surgery at issue. At best, Appellant's expert speculated that he placed too much tension on the incision line, but, even then, there is no proof of the same.

(See, e.g. R. p. 1072, line 8-p. 1073, line 44). Looking to Dr. Schimpf's own testimony, without that of his experts, the jury could very reasonably have concluded that Dr. Schimpf was not negligent. Specifically, Dr. Schimpf denied liability and confirmed that he performed the procedure according to universally accepted techniques. Dr. Schimpf explained how the wound separation was not tension-related; had it been, it would have manifested within a number of hours or days, not weeks. (R. p. 1238, line 16-p. 1239, lines 1-19; R. p. 1255, line 23-p. 1256, line 11; R. p. 1261, lines 19-20; R. p. 1277, lines 6-9). He explained that wound separation was in fact a known complication of any such procedure, which Appellant and her experts conceded as well. (R. p. 806, lines 408; R. p. 1214, line 22-p. 1216, line 7; R. p. 1072, line 24-p. 1073, line 7; R. p. 458, lines 9-12). Dr. Schimpf testified that Dr. Kalus' preoperative photographs show a healing wound, with granulation tissue in the wound bed. (R. p. 1270). Dr. Schimpf testified that he could not understand how this was the "worst wound" Dr. Kalus had seen and explained the size of the wound in context. (R. p. 1257, line 14-p. 1259, line 7). Finally, Dr. Schimpf testified that the conservative approach he would have taken, aimed at preserving the implant, would have been successful had she stayed the course and worked with him to preserve the implant. (R. p. 1262, lines 18-24). As to her damages, he contended that had Mrs. Whitfield continued to treat with him, he would likely have been able to preserve her right implant, preventing her from undergoing the process of having Dr. Kalus remove one implant, then the other, plus nearly five hundred grams of additional tissue, and then having failed fat grafting to address that defect. (*See, e.g.* R. p. 1277, line 2-p. 1278, line 24).

This discussion of Dr. Kalus' role generally reveals the fact that, even without defense experts' testimony, the jury could have concluded that Dr. Kalus, and not Dr. Schimpf, was responsible for Mrs. Whitfield's damages. It also could have concluded that she herself was

responsible due to whatever may have happened that resulted in her being dragged out of the shower on July 13, 2014. Lastly, Appellant's own experts admitted that wound separation is a known complication, meaning it can and does happen in the absence of negligence. All of these issues offer grounds for sustaining the verdict alternative to the testimony of Respondents' experts.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY LIMITED THE PRESENTATION OF EVIDENCE THAT WAS NOT RELEVANT AND UNFAIRLY PREJUDICIAL DURING APPELLANT'S EXAMINATION OF RESPONDENTS' OFFICE MANAGER.

Appellant contends that she should have been permitted at trial to examine Sweetgrass Plastic Surgery's office manager on the subject of that individual's relationship with Dr. Schimpf because the office manager "gave starkly different testimony than Appellant as to what transpired when Mrs. Whitfield requested a copy of her medical file and as to Dr. Schimpf's treatment and behavior towards the [sic] Mrs. Whitfield once complications arose." (Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 12). She argues that the Trial Court erred in excluding this evidence because "on cross-examination, any fact may be elicited which tends to show interest, bias, or partiality of the witness." (*Id.* at 22). In so arguing, Appellant is putting several carts before the proverbial horse – not only does she ignore the requirements of relevancy, but she confuses the process for examining a witness for purposes of revealing bias, interest, or prejudice under Rule 608(c), SCRE, with the process for impeachment on the basis of a prior inconsistent statement under Rule 613, SCRE.

A. Appellant Has Not Preserved this Issue for Appeal.

After the Trial Court limited Appellant from examining Respondent's office manager regarding her personal life, including her relationship with Dr. Schimpf, Appellant failed to make any proffer of what that excluded evidence would have shown. (*See* R. pp. 904-941 (Trial Court ruling) and 942, (Appellant's counsel stating that he has no further questions for the witness and Trial Court excusing witness). In order to preserve an issue for appeal as to evidence excluded at trial, the proponent of that testimony must generally make an offer of proof or proffer. *Ellis by*

Ellis v. Oliver, 323 S.C. at 132, 473 S.E.2d at 799. Furthermore, “a proffer that is confusing or incomplete will not provide grounds for the appellate court to find prejudice.” Jean Hoefer Toal, et al. *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 200 (3d ed. 2016) (contrasting *Designer Showrooms, Inc. v. Kelley*, 304 S.C. 478, 405 S.E.2d 417).

Appellant made no proffer. Without one, this Court is left without a reliable means for determining the substance of the excluded testimony. Because the Court cannot recreate this testimony post-facto, it cannot measure the probative value of the testimony relative to the record and it therefore is left without the ability to measure the prejudice, if any, that the exclusion of this testimony caused to Appellant. For instance, this Court cannot know whether Appellant would have been able to impeach the office manager with her deposition testimony or whether the question as to any relationship would simply have produced a one-word admission from the witness. Not knowing, the Court cannot now weigh the excluded testimony, which is why South Carolina has strict preservation rules. “It is well settled that a reviewing court may not consider error alleged in exclusion of testimony unless the record on appeal shows fairly what the rejected testimony would have been.” *State v. Roper*, 274 S.C. 14, 20, 260 S.E.2d 705, 708 (1979). Because Appellant failed to make a proffer and preserve the issue for appeal, it is now moot.

B. Assuming that Appellant Has Preserved this Issue for Appeal, the Trial Court Properly Excluded Evidence Regarding the Personal Life of Respondent’s Office Manager Such Evidence is Not Relevant, is Unfairly Prejudicial, and Because it Was Not Proper Impeachment Evidence in the Context of This Trial.

i. Standard for Relevancy and Impeachment.

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